IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. SC06-1241
Lower Tribunal No.: 81-170-CF-A-01

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0150177

ANNA-LIISA JOSELOFF
Staff Attorney
Florida Bar No. - Pending

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 25, 1981, Mr. Lightbourne was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County (R. 1436), and on May 1, 1981, he was sentenced to death (R. 1500).

On September 15, 1983, Mr. Lightbourne's conviction and sentence of death were affirmed on direct appeal.¹ Lightbourne

¹ Mr. Lightbourne raised the following issues in his direct appeal: (1) The indictment did not allege the time of the offense "as definitely as possible" under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(d)(3), the indictment was overbroad and vague, and the indictment could be construed as charging only felony murder and charging only felony murder and proving premeditated murder is impermissible; (2) The trial court erred in denying defendant's second motion to dismiss the indictment on the grounds that aggravating circumstances to be applied at the sentencing phase in capital felony cases must be originally alleged in the indictment in order to confer jurisdiction on a court to impose a sentence of death; (3) various constitutional challenges to Florida Statutes 775.082(1), 782.04(1), and 021.141 (1981); (4) Theodore Chavers was acting as an agent of the state during the time he shared a cell with the defendant and any statements that the defendant made to Chavers should have been suppressed because defendant did not know he was talking to a government agent and such statements were obtained in violation of his constitutionally guaranteed privilege against self incrimination and his right to counsel; (5) Personal items taken from the defendant at the time of his arrests on the weapons charge should have been held inadmissible in his trial on the murder charge; (6) Defendant's detention by Officer McGowan prior to his arrest on the concealed weapons charge constituted an illegal stop under the rationale of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); (7) Certain videotaped statements made by defendant should have been held inadmissible under the rationale of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966); (8) The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to impose sanctions under Rule 3.220(j) for the state's failure to properly notify defendant of a deposition to be taken of a listed state witness; and (9) The death sentence was not

v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). Justice Overton dissented and would have granted Mr. Lightbourne a new trial based on a Henry² violation.³ Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court was denied on February 21, 1984. Lightbourne v. Florida, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984).

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter sought post conviction relief on May 31, 1985.⁴ No evidentiary hearing was afforded, and relief

justified because it was based on inappropriate aggravating circumstances, the court failed to consider an unenumerated mitigating circumstance, and the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances.

² United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980).

³ Justice Overton wrote:

I reluctantly dissent because I find the recent United States Supreme Court decision in United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), mandates a reversal under the circumstances of this case. A jailhouse informer was placed in a cell adjacent to appellant's and was requested to keep his ears open. The investigating officer understood that the informant expected something in return for his information, and the informant was paid two hundred dollars in cash, in addition to being released nineteen days early in return for his services. These factors make the informant an agent of the state under the dictates of Henry, which requires suppression of the statements made by the appellant to the informant in the absence of Miranda warnings. I find we have no choice but to grant a new trial.

Id. at 392 (Overton, J., dissenting).

⁴ Mr. Lightbourne's 3.850 motion raised the following issues: (1) Lightbourne was entitled to the aid of experts; (2) trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing; (3) trial counsel's

was summarily denied the same day. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the summary denial of relief on June 3, 1985.

Lightbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985). Justices Overton, McDonald, and Shaw, dissented. Id. at 29.

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in district court on June 3, 1985, which was denied on August 20, 1986.⁵ The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of federal habeas corpus relief on

treatment of the jailhouse informers was a plain example of ineffective assistance; (4) trial counsel failed to investigate; (5) the prosecutor unlawfully struck black jurors; (6) the evidence was insufficient to sustain the verdict or the penalty; and (7) trial counsel was ineffective in not seeking jury sequestration.

⁵ In his federal habeas petition, Mr. Lightbourne argued (1) that police interrogators violated Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), in the course of obtaining incriminating statements during custodial interrogation; (2) that he was denied the right to the assistance of counsel in violation of Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964), and its progeny, by the admission of incriminating statements made to cellmate Chavers; (3) that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's representation in violation of his right to effective assistance of counsel under the rationale of Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980); (4) that trial counsel was ineffective by the failure to adequately investigate petitioner's background and offer additional evidence of mitigating circumstances at the sentencing phase; (5) that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial judge's consideration of the statements in the PSI report; and (6) trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the sequestration of the jury between conviction and sentencing, but the court wouldn't consider the issue because it wasn't raised in the habeas petition.

September 17, 1986, over the ardent dissent of Judge Anderson, who found that the Henry violation warranted a resentencing:

[T]he error is not harmless with regard to sentencing. Chavers' testimony contained the only direct evidence of oral sexual assault on the victim as well as the only graphic descriptions of the sexual attack and comments by the defendant about the victim's anatomy. Since this evidence would support the existence of an aggravating circumstance, and since it was likely to have been influential with the jury on the sentencing issue, I cannot conclude that the testimony was harmless with regard to sentencing.

Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F. 2d 1012, 1035 (11th Cir. 1987)

(Anderson, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

On January 27, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, which was denied on July 20, 1989.⁶

On January 30, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed his second Rule 3.850 motion, alleging new information establishing a Brady⁷

⁶ In his petition for a writ of habeas corpus to this Court, Mr. Lightbourne argued that his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the following claims: (1) The sentencing court erred by failing to independently weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances; (2) The trial court erroneously instructed the jury on aggravating circumstances that were duplicitous; (3) The "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating factor was unconstitutionally applied; (4) The "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally applied; (5) The prosecutor and the court misled and misinformed the jury concerning their proper role in the sentencing proceedings; (6) The jury instructions could reasonably have been read as requiring the mitigating circumstances to be established beyond a reasonable doubt; (7) The sentencing instructions unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant; and (8) The court's instructions misled the jurors by informing them that a verdict of life imprisonment had to be rendered by a majority of the jury.

violation with respect to jailhouse informants Chavers and Carson/Gallman.⁸ The Florida Supreme Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing. Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). Evidentiary hearings were held in circuit court in 1990. The circuit court granted Mr. Lightbourne's April 17, 1991 motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing, and an additional hearing was conducted. The circuit court denied relief on June 12, 1992, and Mr. Lightbourne appealed. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed on June 16, 1994. Lightbourne v. State, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994). On January 28, 1995, Mr. Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on March 27, 1995.

On November 7, 1994, Mr. Lightbourne filed a new Rule 3.850 motion requesting another evidentiary hearing to present additional evidence in support of his Brady claim.⁹ A hearing

⁷ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

⁸ In this 3.850 motion, Mr. Lightbourne argued (1) that the state deliberately used false and misleading testimony and intentionally withheld material exculpatory evidence; (2) that the State's unconstitutional use of jailhouse informants to obtain statements violated Mr. Lightbourne's constitutional rights; (3) that he was denied his constitutional rights because he was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death before a judge who was not impartial; and (4) that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence at the sentencing phase of his trial.

⁹ In this 3.850 motion, Mr. Lightbourne argued that: 1) he was denied an adversarial testing when critical, exculpatory

was held on October 23 and 24, 1995. On February 23, 1996, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the hearing to present additional testimony and a motion to disqualify the state attorney. The circuit court held a hearing on these motions on March 15, 1996, and denied both motions. The circuit court denied relief on June 19, 1996. On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court held that Mr. Lightbourne was not barred from presenting the testimony of Larry Bernard Emanuel, an inmate who was incarcerated with Mr. Lightbourne prior to trial, and remanded "for an evidentiary hearing as to Emanuel's testimony and for the trial court to consider the cumulative effect of the post-trial evidence in evaluating the reliability and veracity of Chavers' and Carson's trial testimony in determining whether a new penalty phase is required." Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999).

On August 13, 1999, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to disqualify Judge Angel based on an *ex parte* communication

evidence was not presented to the jury during the guilt or penalty phase of his trial, 2) the State's unconstitutional use of jailhouse informants to obtain statements violated Mr. Lightbourne's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; 3) access to files and records pertaining to Mr. Lightbourne's case in the possession of certain state agencies has been withheld in violation of Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., and Mr. Lightbourne cannot prepare an adequate Rule 3.850 motion until he has received public records materials and been afforded due time to review those materials and amend; 4) Mr. Lightbourne is innocent of the death sentence.

between his office and the State Attorney's Office (PC-R3. Supp. 1418-24). On September 28, 1999, Mr. Lightbourne supplemented his motion to disqualify, arguing that under the authority of Anderson v. Glass, 727 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), the motion had to be granted due to the delay in excess of thirty (30) days in ruling on the motion, and that no hearing on the motion was requested (PC-R3. 27-30). On October 12, 1999, with no ruling still from the trial court, Mr. Lightbourne sought a writ of prohibition and mandamus from the Florida Supreme Court, requesting that Judge Angel be disqualified (PC-R3. 45-55).¹⁰ On October 14, 1999, the Court ordered the State to respond to the writ. The response was filed on October 18, 1999 (Id. at 123-42). On the same day Judge Angel held a hearing on the motion to disqualify (PC-R3. 79-119) and ultimately denied the motion (Id. at 118). Two days later, on October 20, 1999, the Florida Supreme Court denied Mr. Lightbourne's writ (PC-R3. Supp. 1432). The evidentiary hearing occurred on December 2, 1999 (PC-R2. 911-1088). On February 26, 2001, the circuit court denied relief. (Id. at 1395-97).

On March 12, 2001, Mr. Lightbourne filed a 3.850 appeal, which was denied on January 16, 2003. On June 17, 2003, Mr.

¹⁰ Lightbourne v. State, No. 96,727.

Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on November 10, 2003.

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus to this Court on June 18, 2003, which was denied on August 17, 2004.¹¹ On February 14, 2005, Mr. Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on June 20, 2005.

On February 27, 2006, Mr. Lightbourne filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion, alleging that his rights under the Vienna Convention had been violated and that Florida's lethal injection statute as well as the existing procedure by which Florida carries out executions by lethal injection violate the Florida and U.S. Constitutions (PC-R4. 1-108). A case management conference was held on April 10, 2006 (PC-R4. 274-326). A hearing on Mr. Lightbourne's request for additional public records was held on April 24, 2006 (PC-R4. 327-355). On May 2, 2006, the circuit court denied Mr. Lightbourne's Rule 3.851 motion and his demands for additional public records without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R4. 482-483). On June 1, 2006, Mr. Lightbourne filed a timely notice of appeal.

¹¹ In this petition, Mr. Lightbourne argued that Florida's capital sentencing procedures, as employed in his case, violated his Sixth Amendment right to have a unanimous jury return a verdict addressing his guilt of all the elements necessary for the crime of capital first degree murder, in violation of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Lightbourne, a Bahamian citizen, was arrested on January 24, 1981 for carrying a concealed weapon. While Mr. Lightbourne was detained pending the concealed weapon charge, one of his cellmates reported to authorities that Mr. Lightbourne had made some incriminating statements regarding the murder of Nancy A. O'Farrell on January 17, 1981. On February 3, 1981, when Mr. Lightbourne was questioned by officials from the Marion County Sheriff's Department, he admitted that he owned the .25 caliber pistol found on his person and that he owned a rose shaped pendant bearing three Greek letters attached to a fine gold chain. Mr. Lightbourne was charged with murder after a ballistics report connected his gun to the homicide.

At no time was Mr. Lightbourne, who speaks with a very thick Bahamian accent, informed of his right to contact the Bahamian consulate, and at no time was the Bahamian consulate notified of Mr. Lightbourne's arrest and detention. Mr. Lightbourne's purported statements to his cellmates and his statements regarding ownership of the .25 caliber gun and the gold necklace featured prominently in the State's case at trial and were used to obtain a conviction and death sentence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court erred in denying, without an evidentiary hearing, Mr. Lightbourne's claim that his rights

under the Vienna Convention were violated. The lower court erred in finding that Mr. Lightbourne's claim was procedurally barred. Mr. Lightbourne's claim could not have been raised before, and is therefore not procedurally barred.

Alternatively, this Court should not apply the procedural bar rule to Mr. Lightbourne's claim because the State of Florida is obligated to give meaningful review and reconsideration to the violation of Mr. Lightbourne's rights under the Vienna Convention.

2. The lower court erred in denying an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Lightbourne's claim that Florida's lethal injection statute and the existing procedure by which Florida carries out executions by lethal injection are unconstitutional under the Florida and United States Constitutions as it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. New scientific research not presented to and/ or not considered by this Court in previous cases necessitates an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

3. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Lightbourne's demands for additional public records involving Florida's lethal injection protocol as the requested records would themselves be admissible evidence or were reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Constitutional arguments advanced in this brief present mixed questions of fact and law. As such, this Court is required to give deference to the factual conclusions of the lower court. The legal conclusions of the lower court are to be reviewed independently. See Ornelas v. U.S., 517 U.S. 690 (1996); Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

The lower court denied an evidentiary hearing, and therefore the facts presented in this appeal must be taken as true. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999).

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. LIGHTBOURNE'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONSULAR NOTIFICATION WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 36 OF THE VIENNA CONVENTION ON CONSULAR RELATIONS.

A. Introduction.

In his successive 3.851 motion, Mr. Lightbourne, a Bahamian citizen, argued that the State of Florida violated his rights under Article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, (Apr. 24, 1963), [1970] 21 U.S.T. 77, 100-101, T.I.A.S. No. 6820.¹² The United States signed the Vienna Convention on April

¹² Article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations reads as follows:

1. With a view to facilitating the exercise of consular functions relating to nationals of the sending State:

24, 1963, and with the unanimous advice and consent of the Senate, see CONG. REC. 30,997 (Oct. 22, 1969), President Nixon ratified it on December 24, 1969. See 21 U.S.T. 77,185.

Pursuant to the Vienna Convention, Mr. Lightbourne, a Bahamian

(a) Consular officers shall be free to communicate with nationals of the sending State and to have access to them. Nationals of the sending State shall have the same freedom with respect to communication with and access to consular officers of the sending State;

(b) If he so requests, the competent authorities of the receiving state shall, without delay, inform the consular post of the sending state if, within its consular district, a national of that state is arrested or committed to prison or to custody pending trial or is detained in any other manner. Any communication addressed to the consular post by the person arrested, in prison, custody or detention shall also be forwarded by the said authorities without delay. The said authorities shall inform the person concerned without delay of his rights under this subparagraph.

(c) Consular officers shall have the right to visit a national of the sending State who is in prison, custody or detention, to converse and correspond with him and to arrange for his legal representation. They shall also have the right to visit any national of the sending State who is in prison, custody or detention in their district in pursuance of a judgment. Nevertheless, consular officers shall refrain from taking action on behalf of a national who is in prison, custody or detention if he expressly opposes such action.

2. The rights referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be exercised in conformity with the laws and regulations of the receiving State, subject to the proviso, however, that the said laws and regulations must enable full effect to be given to the purposes for which the rights accorded under this Article are intended.

citizen, was entitled to consular notification at the time of his arrest.

Article 36 of the Vienna Convention establishes a system of rights that enables consular officers to protect nationals who are detained in foreign countries. Article 36(1)(b) requires authorities of the detaining state to notify "without delay" a detained foreign national of his right to request assistance from the consul of his own state and, if the national so requests, to inform the consular post of the arrest or detention, also "without delay." Article 36(1)(a) and (c) require the detaining country to permit the consular officers to render various forms of assistance. Finally, Article 36(2) directs that the rights in paragraph 1 "be exercised in conformity with the laws and regulations of the receiving State, subject to the proviso, however, that the said laws and regulations must enable full effect to be given to the purposes for which the rights accorded under this Article are intended."

The State Department distinguishes between foreign nationals from countries for which consular notification is at the foreign national's option and foreign nationals from countries for which consular notification is mandatory. The U.S. has entered into bilateral agreements with numerous countries under which consular notification of the arrest or

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