IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Case No. SC06-1241

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

THIS CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

The "consular notification" claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal.¹ This Court has unequivocally held that a "consular notification" claim is subject to Florida's well-settled procedural bar rules, just like any other claim:²

Gordon also argues that he was denied the protections of international law and deprived of the advice and assistance of officials of the Jamaican Consulate, a right which he asserts is granted under the authority of Article 36, Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. We have previously determined that such an issue is procedurally barred in a motion for postconviction relief because it could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See *Maharaj v. State*, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000) (holding that petitioner's claim alleging a violation of the Vienna Convention was procedurally barred where it was not raised on direct appeal); *Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995) (holding that claims not raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred from consideration in a rule 3.850 motion). Furthermore, Gordon has failed to establish that he has standing to assert such a claim, as we have held that such

¹Lightbourne's case has been before the Florida Supreme Court 13 times. The United States Supreme Court has denied certiorari review five (5) times. There can be no suggestion that this case has not been vigorously litigated.

² Lightbourne has not acknowledged the long line of authority holding that this claim is subject to well-settled procedural bar law.

treaties constitute agreements between countries, not citizens. See *Maharaj*, 778 So. 2d at 959. Finally, as noted by the trial court, Gordon has failed to demonstrate prejudice. See *Darling v. State*, 808 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 2002) (holding that petitioner's claim that his rights under the Vienna Convention were violated did not merit relief due to petitioner's failure to demonstrate prejudice resulting from the violation).

Gordon v. State, 863 So. 2d 1215, 1221 (Fla. 2003); accord, *Arbelaez v. State*, 898 So. 2d 25, 47 (Fla. 2005) ("Because Arbelaez failed to raise or preserve the issue of the alleged Vienna Convention violation, his appellate counsel would have been procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal."); *Conde v. State*, 860 So. 2d 930, 953 (Fla. 2003) (suppression of statement not remedy for violation, assuming standing);³ *Darling v. State*, 808 So. 2d 145, 165-166 (Fla. 2002) (procedural bar); *Maharaj v. State*, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000) (procedural bar); *State v. Riechmann*, 777 So. 2d 342, 365 (Fla. 2000) (same). Nothing contained in Lightbourne's successive motion compels a different result, and this Court should follow settled Florida law and affirm the denial of this claim on procedural bar grounds.

Lightbourne attempts to argue around the procedural bar by claiming that he could not have raised this claim before. That

³ The preamble to the treaty states "that the purpose of such privileges and immunities is not to benefit individuals **but to ensure the efficient performance of functions by consular posts on behalf of their respective States.**" *Vienna Convention*, preamble, 21 U.S.T. at 79.

claim fails for two reasons. First, **according to Lightbourne**, the Vienna Convention was ratified by President Nixon on December 24, 1968. *Initial Brief*, at 12. Because that is so, Lightbourne cannot claim that he did not know about the Vienna Convention -- it had existed for years before he was arrested in 1981. Second, Lightbourne disingenuously claims that the "triggering event" for this claim was a 2005 Presidential memorandum. **All of the Florida cases (including Arbalaez) finding a procedural bar to litigation of the consular notification claim pre-date that memorandum.** If those defendants could raise the claim, Lightbourne could have raised it as well.

Finally, the United States Supreme Court has explicitly held that State procedural bar rules are applicable to a claim that the "consular notification" provision of the Vienna Convention was violated. The Court held:

[the petitioner] asks us to require the *States* to hear Vienna Convention claims raised for the first time in state postconviction proceedings. Given that the Convention itself imposes no such requirement, we do not perceive any grounds for us to revise state procedural rules in this fashion. *See Dickerson*, *supra*, at 438, 120 S. Ct. 2326, 147 L. Ed. 2d 405 .

We therefore conclude, as we did in *Breard*, that claims under Article 36 of the Vienna Convention may be subjected to the same procedural default rules that apply generally to other federal-law claims.

Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon, 126 S. Ct. 2669, 2687 (U.S. 2006) (italics in original, emphasis added). The Court concluded:

Although these cases involve the delicate question of the application of an international treaty, the issues in many ways turn on established principles of domestic law. Our holding in no way disparages the importance of the Vienna Convention. The relief petitioners request is, by any measure, extraordinary. Sanchez-Llamas seeks a suppression remedy for an asserted right with little if any connection to the gathering of evidence; Bustillo requests an exception to procedural rules that is accorded to almost no other right, including many of our most fundamental constitutional protections. It is no slight to the Convention to deny petitioners' claims under the same principles we would apply to an Act of Congress, or to the Constitution itself.

Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon, 126 S. Ct. at 2687-2688. The Circuit Court properly followed settled Florida law in denying relief on procedural bar grounds. That ruling should be affirmed.

THE CLAIM IS UNTIMELY

In addition to being procedurally barred, the "consular notification" claim is untimely. According to Lightbourne, the pertinent part of the Vienna Convention was ratified by the President on December 24, 1969. Initial Brief, at 12. Accordingly, Lightbourne has no claim that this claim was unavailable to him at the time of his trial, and also at the time of his previous post-conviction litigation. *See, Breard v. Greene*, 523 U.S. 371, 118 S. Ct. 1352, 140 L. Ed. 2d 529 (1998). Likewise, the consular notification issue was being litigated in the State courts long before this successive motion was filed:

It is unclear that the Vienna Convention creates individual rights enforceable in judicial proceedings. [footnote omitted] *Cf. Maharaj v. State*, 778 So. 2d

944, 959 (Fla. 2000) (observing that Maharaj's claim that the State had failed to comply with its international obligation to inform the British Consul that a British citizen had been charged with a capital crime, as required under the Vienna Convention, failed not only because the issue was, in that case, procedurally barred, but also because Maharaj had "failed to establish that he has standing, as treaties are between countries, not citizens") (*citing Matta-Ballesteros v. Henman*, 896 F.2d 255 (7th Cir. 1990)). Indeed, the preamble to the treaty reflects the recognition "that the purpose of such privileges and immunities is not to benefit individuals but to ensure the efficient performance of functions by consular posts on behalf of their respective States." *Vienna Convention*, preamble, 21 U.S.T. at 79.

Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 165-166 (Fla. 2002).

Lightbourne's "consular notification" claim is untimely under *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.851(d)(2) -- relief should be denied on that basis, as well.⁴

THE CLAIM HAS NO LEGAL BASIS

Finally, this claim does not state grounds for relief because it has no legal basis. In addressing an identical claim, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals stated:

First, Florida's state courts are bound (just as we are) by the Supreme Court's decision in *Breard v. Greene*, 523 U.S. 371, 118 S. Ct. 1352, 140 L. Ed. 2d 529 (1998). In *Breard*, the Court unambiguously held that a habeas petitioner's Vienna Convention claim was procedurally barred in federal court because it was not raised in the state court proceedings. *Id.* at 375, 118 S. Ct. at 1354. The Court noted the well-recognized principle of international law that "absent

⁴Lightbourne attempts to explain away his failure to raise this claim by alleging ineffectiveness of trial counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial. That issue has already been litigated, and is not available again.

a clear and express statement to the contrary, the procedural rules of the forum State govern the implementation of [a] treaty in that State." *Id.* The Supreme Court has not retreated from its position in *Breard*, and none of the recent developments cited to us call the holding of *Breard* into substantial question, let alone overrule *Breard*. Thus, there is no reasonable probability that Florida's state courts could find themselves free of the constraints of *Breard*, regardless of the I.C.J.'s holding in *Avena*.

Maharaj v. Sec'y. for the Dep't. of Corr., 432 F.3d 1292, 1306 (11th Cir. 2005). In addressing the scope of remedy for a violation of the consular notification provisions, the Eleventh Circuit held:

. . . the State Department has consistently stated that the only remedies for a violation of the Vienna Convention are diplomatic, political, or derived from international law. *Emuegbunam*, 268 F.3d at 392; *Li*, 206 F.3d at 63-64; *Jimenez-Nava*, 243 F.3d at 197. And the State Department's interpretation of a treaty is entitled to great deference. *El Al Israel Airlines, Ltd. v. Tsui Yuan Tseng*, 525 U.S. 155, 168, 119 S. Ct. 662, 671, 142 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1999); *Emuegbunam*, 268 F.3d at 392; *United States v. De la Pava*, 268 F.3d 157, 165 (2nd Cir. 2001); *Li*, 206 F.3d at 63. Furthermore, no party to the Vienna Convention has dismissed a criminal charge based on a violation of Article 36. *Emuegbunam*, 268 F.3d at 393; *Page*, 232 F.3d at 541; *Li*, 206 F.3d at 65. Indeed, two parties, Italy and Australia, have specifically rejected that possibility. *Page*, 232 F.3d at 541; *United States v. Lombera-Camorlinga*, 206 F.3d 882, 888 (9th Cir. 2000) (*en banc*). And "international agreements should be consistently interpreted among the signatories." *Jimenez-Nava*, 243 F.3d at 195.

Therefore, we join our sister circuits by holding that a violation of Article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations does not warrant the dismissal of an indictment. See *De la Pava*, 268 F.3d at 165; *Page*, 232 F.3d at 541; *Li*, 206 F.3d at 60.

United States v. Duarte-Acero, 296 F.3d 1277, 1282 (11th Cir. 2002). [emphasis added]. In addition to Lightbourne's lack of standing, this claim has no legal basis. Moreover, it is far from clear that the claimed violation of a **treaty** stands on equal footing with a constitutional violation. As the United States Supreme Court noted in *Medellin*, "[defendant] must demonstrate that his allegation of a treaty violation could satisfy this standard [of the violation of a **constitutional right**]. See *Slack v. McDaniel*, 529 U.S. 473, 483, 120 S. Ct. 1595, 146 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2000)." *Medellin v. Dretke*, 125 S. Ct. 2088, 2091 (2005). And, in any event, Lightbourne seeks a remedy that is not available to him:

. . . while we recognize that the United States Supreme Court has stated that "the Vienna Convention . . . arguably confers on an individual the right to consular assistance following arrest," *Breard v. Greene*, 523 U.S. 371, 376, 140 L. Ed. 2d 529, 118 S. Ct. 1352 (1998), we also conclude that suppression of a post-arrest statement is not an appropriate remedy for an alleged violation of article 36 of the Vienna Convention. See, e.g., *United States v. Chaparro-Alcantara*, 226 F.3d 616, 622 (7th Cir. 2000); *United States v. Cordoba-Mosquera*, 212 F.3d 1194, 1196 (11th Cir. 2000); *United States v. Li*, 206 F.3d 56, 66 (1st Cir. 2000); *United States v. Page*, 232 F.3d 536, 541 (6th Cir. 2000). We conclude that even if Conde had standing to assert a right to consular assistance under the Vienna Convention and were to show that right was violated, this would not be grounds for suppression of an otherwise voluntary confession.

Conde v. State, 860 So. 2d 930, 953 (Fla. 2003). That is exactly the result reached by the United States Supreme Court when it

decided *Sanchez-Llamas* in 2006. *Sanchez-Llamas* is controlling, and there is simply no basis for relief.

Finally, while Lightbourne does not recognize it, the United States has withdrawn from the jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice:

Following the I.C.J.'s decision in *Avena*, President Bush issued a memorandum to the Attorney General in which he ordered that the United States discharge its international obligations under the *Avena* decision by "having State courts give effect to the decision in accordance with general principles of comity in cases filed by the 51 Mexican nationals addressed in that decision." *Medellin*, 125 S. Ct. at 2090 (citing the February 28, 2005 memorandum from President George W. Bush to the Attorney General) (emphasis added). Shortly thereafter, however, **the Secretary of State transmitted a letter to the Secretary General of the United Nations withdrawing the United States from the Optional Protocol, see *Medellin*, 125 S. Ct. at 2101 (O'Connor, J., dissenting), thereby removing the United States from the provision of the Vienna Convention that provides jurisdiction to the I.C.J.**

Maharaj v. Sec'y. for the Dep't. of Corr., 432 F.3d at 1305.

[emphasis added]. Regardless of the theory advanced by Lightbourne, the "consular notification" claim fails on both procedural and substantive grounds. The trial court followed settled Florida law when it denied relief, and that denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

II. THE LETHAL INJECTION CLAIM

On pages 35-57 of his *Initial Brief*, Lightbourne asserts that Florida's three-drug protocol used in lethal injection is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth

Amendment based on a "research letter" published in the April 16, 2005, issue of *The Lancet*, and on a letter to the editor of *The Lancet* which appeared in the September 24, 2005, issue. (Vol. 1, R48-53). The law and competent substantial evidence support the trial court's ruling. *Diaz, supra*.

THE LETHAL INJECTION CLAIM IS UNTIMELY

This claim is time-barred because it was not brought until years after the lethal injection statute took effect. The statute making lethal injection Florida's default method of execution took effect in January of 2000. See Ch. 2000-2, § 1, Laws of Fla. (eff. Jan. 14, 2000). Lightbourne has known since that time that his execution would be carried out by lethal injection (since he did not elect electrocution during the statutory window), yet he made no attempt to challenge that execution method until years later. Lightbourne has made no attempt to explain the six-year delay in bringing this challenge to Florida's lethal injection statute, presumably because there is no good-faith basis for his dilatory tactics. There is nothing associated with this method of execution claim that could not and should not have been raised long ago. This claim is untimely under the express provisions of *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.851(d), which establishes a one-year statute of limitations for the presentation of post-conviction

claims. Relief should be denied because the claim was not brought in a timely fashion.⁵

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOLLOWED FLORIDA PRECEDENT
IN DENYING RELIEF WITHOUT A HEARING

In denying relief on the lethal injection claim, the trial court correctly noted that this Court has repeatedly held Florida's lethal injection process constitutional. (Vol. 3, R483). *Suggs, supra* (collecting cases); *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000) (holding that execution by lethal injection is not cruel and unusual punishment); *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 789 (Fla. 2004); *Provenzano v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 2000). This Court rejected the "parade of horrors" argument advanced in *Sims* about what **might** happen **if** the drugs used in the lethal injection process are not administered properly. *Sims*, 754 So. 2d at 667. And, at the evidentiary hearing held in *Sims*, defense expert Dr. Lipman, a neuropharmacologist, provided examples of what **might** happen if

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